
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE 

WESTERN DIVISION 
 
HAI NGUYEN, Administrator of the Estate of 
SABRINA NGUYEN, deceased,  
 

 Plaintiff, 
 
v. 
 
CITY OF MEMPHIS, TENNESSEE,  
A. JUAREZ, individually,  
D. ADAMS, individually,  
JAMES PREBLE, individually,  
D. IGLEHARTE, individually,  
FNU RUSSELL, individually,  
P. MULROY, individually,  
FNU BOYLAN, individually,  
SHELBY COUNTY, TENNESSEE, and  
JOHN DOES 1-10,  
 

 Defendants. 
 

 
 
 
 
         
 
         
 ***JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

             
COMPLAINT 

 
 NOW COMES, Plaintiff, HAI NGUYEN, Personal Representative of the Estate of 

SABRINA NGUYEN, deceased, by and through his attorneys, LAUX LAW GROUP, and for 

his cause of action, states as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 
 
 In 1896, Justice Marshall Harlan gave his enlightened dissent in Plessy v. Fergusson, 163 

U.S. 537, 552, 16 S. Ct. 1138, 1144 (1896), the infamous Supreme Court case wherein the 

majority birthed the atrocious “separate but equal” doctrine:  

But in view of the Constitution, in the eye of the law, there is in 
this country no superior, dominant, ruling class of citizens.  There 
is no caste here.  Our Constitution is color-blind, and neither 
knows nor tolerates classes among citizens.  In respect of civil 
rights, all citizens are equal before the law. 
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The humblest is the peer of the most powerful.  The law regards 
man as man, and takes no account of his surroundings or of his 
color when his civil rights as guaranteed by the supreme law of the 
land are involved.  It is therefore to be regretted that this high 
tribunal, the final expositor of the fundamental law of the land, has 
reached the conclusion that it is competent for a state to regulate 
the enjoyment by citizens of their civil rights solely upon the basis 
of race.  Id. at 559, 16 S. Ct. at 1146-1147. 
 

Justice Harlan’s dissent was eventually validated and, a century later, the vision statement 

of the Memphis Police Department’s (MPD) would seem to reflect the democracy cornerstone he 

articulated.  Indeed, MPD’s stated vision is to create and maintain for the City of Memphis an 

environment of public safety recognized for its intolerance for crime and compassion and 

responsiveness to the needs, rights, and expectations of all citizens, employees and visitors.   

MPD’s purported vision of impartiality extends to black letter policy as MPD officers are 

charged with protecting the rights of all persons within MPD jurisdiction to be free from 

criminal attack, to be secure in their possessions and to live in peace.  Its role is to enforce the 

law in a fair and impartial manner, which is reflected in some of the stated goals of the Law 

Enforcement Code of Ethics MPD officers swear to uphold: to “protect…the weak against 

oppression or intimidation, and the peaceful against violence or disorder.”   

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

1. This action arises under the United States Constitution, particularly under the 

Fourteenth Amendment, and under law, particularly 42 U.S.C. § 1983.  This Honorable Court 

has jurisdiction by virtue of 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1367.  Venue is founded in this Court upon 

28 U.S.C. § 1391 as the acts of which Plaintiff, HAI NGUYEN (hereafter “PLAINTIFF”), 

complains arose in this District.  PLAINTIFF’s supplemental state law claims are brought under 

the Tennessee Governmental Tort Liability Act, Tennessee Code Annotated (TCA) § 29-20-305.  
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PARTIES 
 

2. At all relevant times, PLAINTIFF was a citizen of the United States of America 

and was, therefore, entitled to all legal and constitutional rights afforded citizens of the United 

States of America.  PLAINTIFF is the natural father of SABRINA NGUYEN (hereafter 

“SABRINA”), who was killed by Keedrin Coppage (hereafter “COPPAGE”) on January 2, 2020.  

On August 20, 2020, PLAINTIFF was duly appointed administrator of SABRINA’s probate 

estate.  See Shelby County Probate Court Order Appointing Administrator and Letters of 

Administration, attached hereto, and incorporated herein, as Exhibit 1.   

3. SABRINA was of Vietnamese descent and a Vietnamese American U.S. citizen 

by birth.  At the time of her death, SABRINA was an 18-year-old adult.  At all relevant times, 

SABRINA was a citizen of the United States of America and was, therefore, entitled to all legal 

and constitutional rights afforded citizens of the United States of America.   

4. At all relevant times, PLAINTIFF resided in Memphis, Tennessee, in the Hyde 

Park neighborhood.  PLAINTIFF resided with his family, including his natural daughter, 

SABRINA.  PLAINTIFF brings this lawsuit on behalf of SABRINA’s estate and also on behalf 

of her wrongful death beneficiaries, namely, PLAINTIFF (natural father), Nhung Nguyen 

(natural mother), Daniel Nguyen (brother) and Jimmy Nguyen (brother).   

5. Defendant, CITY OF MEMPHIS, TENNESSEE (hereafter “CITY”), is a 

municipality duly incorporated under the laws of the State of Tennessee, which can be served 

with process through Jennifer A. Sink, City Attorney and Chief Legal Officer for the CITY, 

located at 125 N. Main Street, Memphis, TN 38103, or wherever she may be found.  The CITY 

is situated within Shelby County, TN.    
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6. Defendant MPD Officer A. JUAREZ (hereafter “JUAREZ”), Badge No. 13203, is 

an adult resident citizen of Tennessee, and may be served with process at the MPD, 170 N. Main 

Street, Memphis, TN 38103, or wherever he may be found.  At all relevant times, JUAREZ was 

acting within the scope of his employment and under the color of state law.  

7. Defendant MPD Officer D. ADAMS (hereafter “ADAMS”), Badge No. 13309, is 

an adult resident citizen of Tennessee, and may be served with process at the MPD, 170 N. Main 

Street, Memphis, TN 38103, or wherever he may be found.  At all relevant times, ADAMS was 

acting within the scope of his employment and under the color of state law.  

8. Defendant MPD Officer JAMES PREBLE (hereafter “PREBLE”), Badge No. 

1693, is an adult resident citizen of Tennessee, and may be served with process at the MPD, 170 

N. Main Street, Memphis, TN 38103, or wherever he may be found.  At all relevant times, 

JUAREZ was acting within the scope of his employment and under the color of state law.  

9. Defendant MPD Officer D. IGLEHARTE (hereafter “INGLEHARTE”), Badge 

No. 10015, is an adult resident citizen of Tennessee, and may be served with process at the 

MPD, 170 N. Main Street, Memphis, TN 38103, or wherever he may be found.  At all relevant 

times, INGLEHARTE was acting within the scope of his employment and under the color of 

state law.  

10. Defendant MPD Officer FNU RUSSELL (hereafter “RUSSELL”), Badge No. 

UNK, is an adult resident citizen of Tennessee, and may be served with process at the MPD, 170 

N. Main Street, Memphis, TN 38103, or wherever he may be found.  At all relevant times, 

RUSSELL was acting within the scope of his employment and under the color of state law.  

11. Defendant MPD Officer P. MULROY (hereafter “MULROY”), Badge No. 

11613, is an adult resident citizen of Tennessee, and may be served with process at the MPD, 
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170 N. Main Street, Memphis, TN 38103, or wherever he may be found.  At all relevant times, 

MULROY was acting within the scope of his employment and under the color of state law.  

12. Defendant MPD Officer FNU BOYLAN (hereafter “BOYLAN”), Badge No. 

UNK, is an adult resident citizen of Tennessee, and may be served with process at the MPD, 170 

N. Main Street, Memphis, TN 38103, or wherever he may be found.  At all relevant times, 

RUSSELL was acting within the scope of his employment and under the color of state law.  

13. Defendant, SHELBY COUNTY, TENNESSEE (hereafter “SHELBY CO.”), is 

duly incorporated under the laws of the State of Tennessee, and can be served through Marlinee 

Clark Iverson, County Attorney for SHELBY CO., located at 160 N. Main Street, Memphis, TN 

38103, or wherever she may be found.   

14. As reflected in MPD policy, within the confines of the Memphis city limits, the 

MPD has concurrent jurisdiction with SCSP and with various state and federal law enforcement 

agencies. These agencies have legal authority to perform particular police functions within the 

City of Memphis.  The origin of their office (federal, state, etc.) defines the scope of their 

authority.  Since these organizations share the same primary objective, they may from time-to-

time request assistance from MPD.  

15. Upon information and belief, the CITY and SHELBY CO. are the employers of 

the individual defendants and are governmental entities subject to the requirements of 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1983.  The CITY and SHELBY CO. were and are responsible for assuring that the actions, 

policies and procedures guiding their respective officers are constitutional and do not deprive 

citizens of fundamental guaranteed rights.   
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16. Upon information and belief, the CITY is and/or was the employer of defendants, 

certain JOHN DOES 1–10.  The CITY is therefore responsible for the acts of these defendants 

while they were employed by CITY and while acting in the scope of their employment.   

17. Upon information and belief, SHELBY CO. is and/or was the employer of 

defendants, certain JOHN DOES 1–10.  SHELBY CO. is therefore responsible for the acts of 

these defendants while they were employed by SHELBY CO. and while acting in the scope of 

their employment.  Upon information and belief, PLAINTIFF avers that the true identities of 

JOHN DOES 1–10, will be ascertained during court-ordered discovery in the matter.    

HISTORY AND FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

City of Memphis and Shelby County Homicide and Violent Crime Statistics 

18. In 2016, ninety-one (91) domestic violence-related deaths were reported in 

Tennessee.  Of that number, 32 were in Memphis.  In 2017, twelve (12) domestic violence-

related deaths were reported in Memphis, and there were seven (7) in 2018 through August.   

19. Statewide, 73,568 offenses reported to the Tennessee Bureau of Investigation 

were flagged as domestic violence-related in 2018.  

20. In September 2020, the non-profit Washington-based Violence Policy Center 

released its annual study which showed that the State of Tennessee ranked fourth among states in 

terms of women killed by men.  Tennessee has placed among the top 10 states in the Violence 

Policy Center’s study for nearly ten (10) years.  As of 2018, nationally, Tennessee ranked fifth 

alongside South Carolina for its homicide rate among female victims murdered by males.  That 

rate is 2% in Tennessee compared to 1.29% on average across the United States.   

21. According to the most recent United States Census estimate, non-white 

individuals comprise approximately 70% of Memphis’ population.  And yet, according to official 
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MPD documents, during the first quarter of the calendar year 2017, non-white Memphis citizens 

—i.e., racial or ethnic minorities—accounted for 39 of 45 Memphis homicide victims, or 

approximately 87%.  Thus, During the first quarter of 2017, only 20% of Memphis homicides 

were committed by strangers to the homicide victim, according to MPD statistical documents.   

22. From January 1, 2017 to March 27, 2017, domestic violence homicides accounted 

for only 9% of all homicides in Memphis, according to official MPD statistical documents 

available to the public.  Of the domestic violence homicide victims that comprise this 9%, upon 

information and belief, the majority are non-white domestic violence homicide victims.   

Hyde Park Neighborhood, Memphis, Tennessee 

23. Hyde Park is a neighborhood in Memphis consisting of 2,535 square miles with a 

population of 4,775, according to the latest available figures.  Racial and ethnic minorities 

comprise approximately 91% of Hyde Park’s population.  In 2018, the median household income 

in Hyde Park was $25,113, while in Memphis generally the median household income was 

significantly higher at $38,826.  The percentage of the population living below the poverty level 

in Hyde Park was 43.7% in 2018, compared to 26.9% in Memphis generally.   

24. The distance between PLAINTIFF’s Hyde Park home, where SABRINA lived, 

and the MPD Tillman Station is approximately 2.6 miles.  The distance between PLAINTIFF’s 

Hyde Park home and the MPD-Douglass Substation is approximately 2.0 miles.   

MPD’s Domestic Violence Unit 

25. By 2018, the MPD handled an average of approximately 50,000 domestic 

violence-related calls each year.  The MPD’s Domestic Violence (DV) Unit is responsible for 

investigating incidents involving domestic violence.  Domestic violence is broadly defined in 

Tennessee and includes: cases involving infliction of injury, including assault; threats to inflict 
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harm (including stalking); physical restraint; and malicious damage to personal property of an 

abused person.   

26. The DV Unit works closely with SCSO regarding domestic violence warrants and 

protective orders.  Between 2015 and 2018, the DV Unit reviewed an average of nearly 18,000 

cases per year, which included approximately 1,800 aggravated assaults and 9,500 simple 

assaults per year.  

Shelby County Judicial Commissioners and Orders of Protection 

27. In December 1996, Shelby County was awarded a grant of $575,000 to establish a 

full-time domestic violence court as part of an arrest policies project.1  The goal of the court in 

establishing a full-time domestic violence court was to have it serve as a “focal point for Shelby 

County efforts to achieve…[a] coordinated community response” to domestic violence.  The 

domestic violence court was intended to provide “a forum to bring [] diverse agencies together 

and centralize our efforts into a coordinated response…”    

28. The Shelby County Commission consists of eight (8) judicial commissioners, 

with someone on duty 24 hours a day.  The judicial commissioners duties include, inter alia: 1) 

the issuance of search warrants and felony arrest warrants upon a finding of probable cause and 

pursuant to requests from on-duty law enforcement officers; 2) the setting and approving of 

bonds and the release on recognizance of defendants; 3) the issuance of injunctions and other 

appropriate orders as designated by the general sessions judges in cases of alleged domestic 

violence; and 4) conducting proceeding relative to the issuance of extended orders of protection 

and all proceeding and matters attendant thereto.  

 
1 The Shelby County, Tennessee Arrest Policies Project was supported by Grant No. 98-WE-VX-
0012 which was awarded to the Institute for Law and Justice by the National Institute of Justice, 
Office of Justice Programs, U.S. Department of Justice. 
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29. A protection order is an order issued by a court that protects a person by requiring 

another person to do, or not do, certain things.  Protection orders issued in Shelby County can be 

extended for periods of up to a year in duration.   

30. In Shelby County, certain criminal hearings are held before judicial 

commissioners.  At the bail hearing after arrest and jail booking, the Shelby County pretrial 

services staff will present recommendations for the amount of bail to be required and what 

conditions should be imposed by the court as part of jail release.  The information provided by 

the pretrial services staff is used by the court to set release conditions.  Because the conditions of 

release are entered into a multiple agency database, law enforcement officers are able to 

determine at the scene of an incident whether release conditions have been violated.  SCSO also 

maintains a computerized registry of protection orders.   

31. The information upon which judicial commissioners base their probable cause and 

bail condition decisions is provided almost exclusively by MPD officer affiants.  Therefore, 

judicial commissioners must rely upon the veracity and completeness of MPD officer affidavits 

in reaching important decisions affecting the rights of any potential victims or other third parties, 

particularly in instances of domestic violence.  A 2015 Shelby County report reflects that the 

judicial commissioners issued nearly 19,000 bonds set and 13,000 orders of protection that year. 

32. Once a judicial commissioner signs an arrest warrant, the warrant goes to the 

SCSO’s Fugitive Squad which serves the warrant.  The Fugitive Squad will also enter the 

warrant in the local computer system if it has not been previously entered by the Clerk.  The 

Fugitive Squad is also responsible for maintaining possession of the warrant.  All orders of 

protection must be verified through the Shelby County Fugitive Division.   

 

Case 2:21-cv-02003-JPM-atc   Document 1   Filed 01/04/21   Page 9 of 28    PageID 9



10 
 

Memphis Police Department Policy and Procedures 

33. At all relevant times, all MPD members were required to be apprised of the 

United States Constitution, and were required, at all times, to uphold and obey the laws of the 

State of Tennessee and also to comply with MPD Policies and Procedures (hereafter “policy 

manual”).  At all relevant times, MPD officers are required to be familiar with the policy manual 

and must adhere to its directives.    

34. Chapter 2 of the policy manual is entitled Arrests, Charges and Investigations.  

Section 1 of Chapter 2 (Arrests General), states that MPD officers “will make arrests for state 

felonies and state or city misdemeanors.”  Section 1 also contains a provision which reads in 

pertinent part:  

Should an officer check a person and find that an outstanding 
warrant exists for that person’s arrest and the Memphis Police 
Department officer has no other charges, the Memphis Police 
Department officer will notify Station B of the arrest.  Station B, in 
turn, will notify the Shelby County Fugitive Squad, which will be 
operating on a 24-hour basis.  If the prisoner is male, the 
transporting Memphis Police Department officer will take the 
prisoner to the CJC (205 Poplar) and turn him over to the Shelby 
County Fugitive Squad officer.  
 

35. An arrest warrant permits an officer to serve the warrant upon a suspect’s 

residence.  Per Section 3 of Chapter 2, an arrest warrant for misdemeanor or felony offenses, 

empowers the executing officer to search for the individual named in the warrant when the 

executing officer: a) has probable cause to believe that he is searching the primary residence of 

the named individual; and b) has probable cause to believe that the named individual is at home 

at that time.    

36. According to Section 12 of Chapter 2, arrest warrants will only be executed by 

sworn law enforcement officers.  The MPD policy manual authorizes officers to arrest a suspect 
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based on the knowledge that a warrant for the suspect’s arrest is in existence.  Thus, it is not 

necessary that the officer have the warrant in his possession if he or she intends to arrest the 

suspect.  

37. Section 12 of Chapter 2 (Arrest Warrants) provides the procedures involved in 

obtaining arrest warrants.  The MPD officer will present the arrest warrant to the General 

Sessions Judge, who will determine probable cause based on the information provided by the 

officer.  If probable cause is present, the Judge will sign the warrant portion of that form.  The 

warrant is then given to the Clerk in the Courtroom and the warrant will be forwarded to the 

Fugitive Squad after it has been assigned a number by the computer.   

38. Section 3 of Chapter 2 (Detention of Suspects) outlines MPD officers’ authority to 

arrest with or without an arrest warrant.  Per Section 3 of Chapter 2, MPD has the right, as well 

as the duty, to investigate alleged criminal conduct.  Consistent with this right, officers have the 

authority to arrest a subject where they have probable cause to believe that the subject is guilty of 

a criminal offense.  Furthermore, if the police matter being investigated involves exigent or 

emergency circumstances, warrantless entry into a dwelling to make an arrest is justified.   

39. Section 1 of Chapter 2 reflects TCA § 36-3-619, authorizing MPD officers to 

arrest a person without a warrant: 1) when the person has committed a felony, though not in the 

officer’s presence; 2) when a felony has been committed and the officer has reasonable cause for 

believing the person arrested to have committed it; 3) on a charge made, upon reasonable cause, 

of the commission of a felony by the person arrested; and 4) when has committed a crime 

involving domestic abuse in or out of the presence of the officer.  

40. It is the policy of the MPD that, generally, two (2) police units are dispatched to 

handle serious or non-routine calls for service or non-routine incidents.  The dispatch of two (2) 
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police units is mandatory when responding to certain types of incidents, including, inter alia, 

felony or violent/serious misdemeanor arrests; any crime, having just occurred when there is a 

need to check the area for suspects; and domestic disputes. 

41. Prior to transporting individuals who are arrested for committing offenses that 

warrant additional investigation, the arresting officer will obtain the approval of his immediate 

supervisor.  The supervisor will make the scene to approve the arrest and will contact the 

supervisor of the appropriate bureau.  It will be the responsibility of the arresting officer’s 

supervisor to determine if bureau notification is necessary.  All supervisors have the 

responsibility of notifying the appropriate bureau or after hours (1600-0800) Felony Response, 

with regard to, inter alia, crimes that involve serious or critical injuries.   

42. Section 9 of Chapter 2 is entitled Misdemeanor Offenses and covers several 

related topics, such as domestic disputes and violations of domestic violence bail conditions.  

Section 9 of Chapter 2 references TCA § 36-13-11 and establishes that violence between or 

among adults who are dating or who have dated constitutes domestic abuse, in accordance with 

TCA § 36-3-601.   

43. Per TCA § 36-3-619, if a law enforcement officer has probable cause to believe 

that a person has committed a crime involving domestic abuse, whether the crime is a 

misdemeanor or felony, or was committed within or without the presence of the officer, the 

preferred response of the officer is arrest.   

44. Subheading III., entitled Domestic Disputes, found in Section 9 of Chapter 2 of 

the policy manual, describes reporting requirements for MPD officers responding to calls 

alleging domestic abuse.  These policy provisions require MPD officers responding to calls 

alleging domestic abuse to: 
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a) Draft a written offense report of the incident;  
 

b) Utilize the appropriate offence classification based on the 
circumstances;  
 

c) Include the notation “Domestic Violence” as part of the 
classification;  
 

d) Indicate in his/her narrative that the report is based on a 
“Domestic Violence” situation; and  
 

e) Distribute to each domestic violence victim at each scene, 
every time, a “Domestic Violence Hold Harmless/Victim’s 
Rights Information” sheet.   

 
45. Section 9 of Chapter 2 expressly describes further policy requirements for MPD 

officers responding to calls alleging domestic abuse which are implicated when the alleged 

assailant is not present at the scene at the time of the MPD response:  

a) “The Officer must offer to transport the victim to the location 
when an arrest warrant can be obtained and assist [the victim] 
in procuring the warrant; AND” (emphasis in original);  

 
b) “The Officer must also offer to transport the victim to a place 

of safety such as a shelter, another similar service, or a friend’s 
or family’s residence, or return the victim home.” 

 
46. If the suspect is no longer present at the scene, the victim also is to be advised to 

contact the Domestic Violence Bureau, 1750 Madison Ave., 6th Floor, (901) 636-3741, Monday-

Friday from 8:00 am to 4:00 pm for assistance in obtaining a warrant. 

Bail Conditions and the Violation of Domestic Violence Protection Orders 

47. Section 9 of Chapter 2 also reflects requirements related to the sharing of vital 

information—such as information on the violation of bail conditions in domestic violence 

matters—among law enforcement agencies, such as SCSO.  Subheading IV., Domestic Violence 

Bail Conditions Violations, cites the Tennessee bail statute and reads in pertinent part:  

Any member of the Memphis Police Department having been made 
aware that a defendant, who having been released on bail for domestic 
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abuse, may have violated the conditions of bail, shall immediately 
contact the Shelby County Sheriff’s Fugitive Division at 545-5620 to 
determine the conditions of bail and to determine if an arrest is to be 
made.  
 
The Shelby County Sheriff’s Fugitive Division shall maintain a copy 
of any order issued as an “Order Granting Bail for Domestic Abuse 
Cases” for all such active domestic abuse cases.  Such order is no 
longer valid once the case has been disposed of in court.  
 
If an active “Order Granting Bail for Domestic Abuse Cases” is on 
file with the Fugitive Division, then the arresting officer can legally 
assume that the defendant has been served with the notice of 
conditions for bail release and the defendant is subject to immediate 
arrest without a warrant for violating the conditions of bail.  The 
proper charge is “Violate Bail Conditions/ DV”, TCA 40-11-150.  
The Fugitive Division shall provide a copy of the order, which is to be 
attached to the arrest ticket.  It is not necessary to bring the defendant 
to the Fugitive Office.  (boldface in original)  
 

48. Per Section 9 of Chapter 2, “All Memphis Police Officers must enforce the 

provisions of any Order of Protection; this includes Agreed Order of Protection, Order of 

Protection, Ex Parte Order of Protection, and Out of State Order of Protection.”  (boldface, 

underline in original)  MPD requires an offense report for every  protection order violation call.  

49. The mandatory nature of arrest for violations of bond conditions is codified in 

Tennessee.  Per TCA § 40-7-103(b), if a law enforcement officer has probable cause to believe 

that a person has violated one (1) or more of the conditions of release imposed pursuant to TCA 

§ 40-11-150 and verifies that the alleged violator received notice of such conditions, the officer 

shall, without a warrant, arrest the alleged violator regardless of whether the violation was 

committed in or outside the presence of the officer. 

50. Moreover, per TCA § 40-11-150(h), a person who violates a condition of release 

imposed pursuant to this section shall be subject to immediate arrest with or without a warrant 

as provided in TCA § 40-7-103(b).  Such a violation shall be punished as contempt of the court 

imposing the conditions and the bail of such violator may be revoked. 
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51. A person arrested for violation of protection order shall be charged with a 

violation of § 36-3-611, which reads in pertinent part:  

(a) An arrest for violation of an order of protection issued pursuant 
to this part may be with or without warrant.  Any law 
enforcement officer shall arrest the respondent without a 
warrant if:  

 
(1) The officer has proper jurisdiction over the area in which 

the violation occurred;  
 

(2) The officer has reasonable cause to believe the respondent has 
violated or is in violation of an order for protection; and  

 
(3) The officer has verified whether an order of protection is in 

effect against the respondent.  If necessary, the police officer 
may verify the existence of an order for protection by 
telephone or radio communication with the appropriate law 
enforcement department.  

 
52. While a major aspect of the arrest policies project was the admonition that there 

must be a broad-based community coalition focusing on domestic violence issues, and while all 

of the specific operational goals of the project were laudable, the project directives did not 

address the need to address the specific issues facing minority victims or of domestic violence 

victims who reside in underserved communities.     

53. However, looking ahead, the project did identify several important problems in 

Shelby County’s handling of domestic violence complaints.  Among them were:  

a) the limited availability of bilingual staff as Latinos and Asians 
moved into Shelby County;  
 

b) a lack of aggressive policing as evidenced by officers’ failure 
to pursue arrest warrants on their own when they have probable 
cause to arrest;  

 
c) failure to do follow-up visits to arrest fugitives who fled the 

scene when police were called; and  
 

d) problems with uniform service of protection orders generally.  
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MPD and SCSO Implement the Lethality Assessment Program (LAP),  
a Domestic Abuse Reduction Strategy 

 
54. In March 2018, the MPD implemented the Lethality Assessment Program (LAP), 

a lethality screen for domestic violence victims recognized by the U.S. Department of Justice as 

a “promising practice” in intimate partner homicide prevention.  SCSO had implemented LAP 

earlier, in October 2017.   

55. Described as “an innovative strategy to prevent domestic violence homicides and 

serious injuries by providing an easy and effective method for law enforcement and other 

advocates to identify victims of domestic violence who are at the highest risk,” LAP is an 

evidenced-based tool developed from extensive research on lethality indicators preceding 

domestic violence homicide. 

56. Based on a 2015 study regarding LAP’s effectiveness,2 researchers found that 

victims who receive the LAP screening were:  

• Nearly two (2) times more likely to receive immediate services 
and obtain medical care;  
 

• 2.5 times more likely to remove or hide their abuser’s 
weapons; and  
 

• 1.5 times more likely to engage in protective actions.  
 

57. Among the purposes of LAP are assisting with reducing domestic violence 

homicides and increasing access to services for victims of domestic violence.  LAP allows 

officers to learn about prior, potentially lethal incidents and gives them an evidence-based tool to 

evaluate the victim’s future danger.  Contact with the hotline advocate is important because the 

 
2 Messing, Jill Theresa, Jacqueline Campbell, Daniel W. Webster, Sheryll Brown, Beverly 
Patchell, and Janet Sullivan Wilson.  “The Oklahoma Lethality Assessment Study: A Quasi-
Experimental Evaluation of the Lethality Assessment Program.”  Social Service Review 89.3 
(2015): 499-530.  Web.  
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advocate can provide the victim with a different perspective on their situation, making them 

more likely to engage in services.   

58. Using a simple 11-question survey, responding MPD officers can determine 

whether the victim is at immediate risk for further harm.  If, based on the answers, a person is 

determined to be at risk, the officer—while still on the scene—will call the Family Safety Center 

of Memphis.  A victim’s advocate with the center will then talk to the person about several 

options, including leaving.   

59. Generally speaking, LAP consists of the following steps:  

• If the victim screens in as “high risk,” the officer calls the 
Family Safety Center’s 24-hour hotline. 
 

• The victim may or may not choose to speak with the domestic 
violence hotline advocate. 
 

• If the victim does not choose to speak with the hotline 
advocate, the officer makes a plan with the advocate on how 
the victim can stay safe. 
 

• If the victim chooses to speak with the hotline advocate, the 
individual makes a plan with the advocate on how they can 
stay safe. 
 

• The victim may give permission for the hotline to follow up in 
24 hours about additional needs. 

 
60. On August 7, 2018, the Commercial Appeal published an article entitled 

“Memphis Police, Shelby County implement domestic violence program,” which detailed the 

implementation of LAP at MPD.     

61. In the article, MPD Major J.D. Smith, who headed the department’s domestic 

violence unit in 2018, said LAP is in use at all of MPD’s nine precincts.  Major Smith noted the 

causal connection between officer intervention and saving lives, stating:   
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I’ll say that the assessment program is one of the best tools we can 
use because more than likely at that time, the escalation of violence 
has gotten to the extreme where the next move is possibly going to 
result in a fatality.  [LAP] allows us to get hands on, early on, and 
that is key.    

 
62. By 2018, through departmental domestic violence training and LAP training, 

MPD officers and SCSO deputies knew or should have known that on average a person will 

attempt to leave an abusive situation seven times before they finally escape.  

Months of Disregarded Violence, Kidnapping and Sexual Assault Committed Against  
SABRINA, Culminating in her Predictable, Preventable Death 

 
63. SABRINA and SABRINA began dating in early 2019 and it was not long before 

major concerns arose.  Starting in April 2019, COPPAGE began physically and mentally abusing 

SABRINA.  On April 5, 2019, SABRINA called MPD after COPPAGE hit her on the head with 

a bag of tools.  The call was not classified as a domestic abuse incident.  

64. On June 14, 2019, COPPAGE smashed SABRINA’s cell phone and committed 

aggravated assault her against, which necessitated she receive medical treatment at Baptist East 

Hospital.  COPPAGE fled the scene to his home on the 5500 block of Patsy Circle but was soon 

arrested by SCSO.  

65. On June 15, 2019, COPPAGE attacked SABRINA, knocking her unconscious and 

kidnapping her.  SABRINA was dropped off at her home.  COPPAGE was arrested by MPD at 

his home, upon information and belief.   

66. On June 17, 2019, a protection order was put in place preventing any contact 

between COPPAGE and SABRINA, per MPD report.  The protection order required that 

SABRINA provide the residential address of the respondent, COPPAGE, which she did.  The 

protection order issued on June 17, 2019 went into effect on that date and, upon information and 

belief, did not expire for one (1) year at a minimum.  The protection order SABRINA signed 
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provided notice to COPPAGE of the penalties that would attach were he to violate the provisions 

of the protection order.   

67. In July 2019, COPPAGE acknowledged to both MPD and SCSO his knowledge 

of the fact that SABRINA had filed a protection order against him.   

68. On or around August 10, 2019, COPPAGE again kidnapped SABRINA and 

sexually assaulted her, before transporting her to Collierville, Tennessee.  SABRINA was able to 

break free and eventually received hospital treatment.   

69. On or about September 11, 2019, COPPAGE again issued death threats to 

SABRINA  via telephone and text message.  The following day, COPPAGE jumped out of 

bushes outside of SABRINA’s house as she tried going to court to prosecute her case against 

him.  COPPAGE attacked her and tried to abduct her.     

70. Between mid-September 2019 and December 19, 2019, COPPAGE continued his 

unchecked reign of terror on SABRINA which included the following egregious acts of domestic 

violence and intimidation:   

• Physically appearing up at her work looking for her;  
 
• Sending countless threatening text messages;  
 
• Making countless harassing and violent phone calls to her;  
 
• Stalking her as she went to and from work;  
 
• Committing multiple physical assaults of her;  
 
• Committing forcible rapes of her;  
 
• Kidnapping her a second time;  
 
• Confronting and threatening SABRINA with death in front of 

Shelby County courthouse;  and  
 
• Kidnapping her a third time while brandishing a knife.   
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71. SABRINA managed to escape from the third kidnapping by COPPAGE on 

December 19, 2019.  On December 20, 2019, SABRINA again went to MPD seeking protection 

from COPPAGE.  She received none.   

72. On December 20, 2019, COPPAGE kidnapped SABRINA a fourth time, this time 

forcing SABRINA into the trunk of her own car before taking her across state lines against her 

will.  COPPAGE held SABRINA against her will for three (3) days, physically abusing and 

mentally tormenting her during this time.   

73. On the morning of December 23, 2019, SABRINA escaped.  On that date, at 

approximately 12:12 pm, SABRINA went to the MPD station on N. Main Street.  Despite the 

MPD policy which requires officers to offer to transport a domestic violence victim to a place of 

safety such as a shelter, another similar service, or a friend’s or family’s residence, SABRINA 

received no such offer from MPD.  Instead, without her car, she was forced to call a friend for a 

ride home from MPD.   

74. At all relevant times, including December 23, 2019 through January 2, 2020, there 

were multiple arrest warrants issued for COPPAGE based on domestic violence and other 

profoundly serious crimes.  Despite this—and despite the black letter MPD policy mandating 

immediate arrest—no one from MPD or SCSO attempted to arrest or apprehend COPPAGE at 

any time during this crucial timeframe. 

75. SABRINA was last seen alive on December 31, 2019 walking on the street near 

her neighborhood.  At that time, it is believed that she was trying to reclaim her car which she 

needed for work and for her own safety.   
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76. On January 2, 2020, SABRINA’s lifeless body was found on a sidewalk by a 

passerby at the intersection of Jackson Ave. and Maple Drive.  The passerby called 911 and the 

Memphis Fire Department responded, confirming SABRINA’s death a 11:48 am.   

77. A Shelby County medical examiner arrived on the scene at approximately 1:00 

pm and performed a brief body exam, after which SABRINA’s body was transported to the West 

Tennessee Regional Forensic Center for autopsy.  SABRINA’s body was autopsied the 

following day, January 3, 2020.  The manner of death was homicide.  The cause of death was 

multiple sharp force injuries.   

78. According to her autopsy report, SABRINA suffered thirty-eight (38) multiple 

sharp force injuries and multiple blunt force injuries.  Specifically, SABRINA suffered eleven 

(11) total sharp force injuries of her torso (three (3) incised wounds to abdomen; five (5) incised 

wounds to back; and one (1) stab wound each to abdomen, back and left shoulder).   

79. She also suffered twenty-seven (27) sharp force injuries of her extremities (right 

thigh, right arm, right forearm, left forearm (2), left wrist, left arm (11), right arm (5); and many 

to her left leg).  SABRINA’s injuries are consistent with a vicious attack and reveal considerable 

defensive wounds, which is evidence indicative of her frantically trying to protect herself.   

80. Even though, at all relevant times, MPD knew where COPPAGE resided, on or 

about January 2, 2020, MPD nonetheless contacted the U.S. Marshals for assistance arresting 

him.  The U.S. Marshals went to COPPAGE’s home—where he was predictably located—and 

promptly arrested him for SABRINA’s murder.   

81. On or about January 12, 2020, Lt. Louis Brownlee publicly stated that MPD 

officers followed the LAP risk assessment steps in each of their interactions with SABRINA in 

2019.  
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82. Contrary to the purported vision statement espoused by the MPD, SABRINA was 

definitely not free from criminal attack during the last year of her life.  SABRINA was not secure 

in her possessions and she most certainly did not live her final, tragic days in peace.   

COUNT I 
ALL DEFENDANTS 

VIOLATION OF THE DUE PROCESS CLAUSE OF THE FOURTEENTH 
AMENDMENT—42 U.S.C. § 1983 

 
83. PLAINTIFF hereby incorporates and re-alleges Paragraphs one (1) through 

eighty-two (82) above as and for Paragraph eighty-three (83) of Count I.  

84. Generally, there is no constitutional right, either in the due process clause or the 

equal protection clause, to be protected against being attacked or raped by a member of the 

general public.  And consequently there is no corresponding duty placed on the state and its 

officers requiring them to act when members of the general public are in danger.  However, there 

are two recognized exceptions to this general rule. 

85. The first is where the state has created a custodial or other special relationship 

with the plaintiff.  In those situations, the state and its officers have a duty, under the due process 

clause to provide those special individuals with protection.  Here, there existed a special 

relationship between SABRINA and MPD born of the affirmative actions taken by MPD, such as 

the removal of SABRINA on more than one occasion to a “safehouse.”   

86. The MPD and individually named defendants did more than give SABRINA mere 

assurances of protection and safety.  Rather, by their actions, they affirmatively undertook to 

protect SABRINA and she relied upon that undertaking.  

87. Moreover, the law recognizes instances where the state has increased the chance 

of danger for a citizen seeking its protection.  This is called a “state-created danger” and it may 

form the basis for a special relationship.    
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88. Alternatively, State-created danger in failing to retrieve SABRINA’s car at 

SABRINA’s residence.  MPD and SCSO knew SABRINA had SABRINA’s car and knew that 

she needed her car to maintain her employment.  Despite this information, MPD and SCSO 

affirmatively refused to follow policy requiring the arrest of SABRINA.   

89. The acts of defendants were unnecessary, objectively unreasonable and malicious.  

Therefore, defendants are liable to SABRINA and PLAINTIFF in damages pursuant to 42 

U.S.C. § 1983, including compensatory damages, costs, attorney’s fees and punitive damages.  

COUNT II 
ALL DEFENDANTS  

VIOLATION OF THE EQUAL PROTECTION CLAUSE OF THE FOURTEENTH 
AMENDMENT—42 U.S.C. § 1983  

 
90. PLAINTIFF hereby incorporates and re-alleges Paragraphs one (1) through 

eighty-nine (89) above as and for Paragraph ninety (90) of Count II.  

91. The second exception to the rule that police officers do not owe a duty of 

protection to individuals is where the state discriminates in providing protection to members of 

the public; those situations violate the equal protection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.  

The equal protection clause operates to bar discrimination or disparate treatment based on 

classifications that are not rationally related to a legitimate government purpose.  

92. So, although there is no general constitutional right to police protection, there 

state may not discriminate in providing such protection. 

93. Equal protection rights are violated when (1) a person is a member of an 

identifiable class; (2) that person is intentionally treated differently from others similarly 

situated; and (3) there is no rational basis for the difference in treatment.  Discriminatory intent 

implies more than intent as volition or intent as awareness of consequences.  It implies that the 
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decision maker selected or reaffirmed a particular course of action at least in part because of–not 

merely in spite of–its adverse effects upon an identifiable group.   

94. It is well settled that the equal protection clause is applicable not only to 

discriminatory legislative action, but also to discriminatory governmental action in 

administration and enforcement of the law.   

95. City officials and police officers are under an affirmative duty to preserve law and 

order, and to protect the personal safety of persons in the community.  This duty applies equally 

to women whose personal safety is threatened by individuals with whom they have or have had a 

domestic relationship as well as to all other persons whose personal safety is threatened, 

including women not involved in domestic relationships.  

96. Police action is subject to the equal protection clause and Section 1983 whether in 

the form of commission of violative acts or omission to perform required acts pursuant to the 

police officer’s duty to protect.   

97. It is clearly established law that the police may not discriminate on the basis of 

race, gender or socio-economic background.  The state may not selectively deny its protective 

services to certain disfavored minorities without violating the Equal Protection Clause. 

98. SABRINA is a member of an identifiable group.  As pled above, she is a female 

domestic violence and murder victim, of Asian descent, who has been treated differently on 

account of her race, gender and socio-economic background.  PLAINTIFF further alleges that 

defendants acted with discriminatory intent in refusing to investigate criminal acts against 

SABRINA and in refusing to arrest or timely arrest SABRINA in December 2019.   

99. An individual who alleges that a police officer intentionally treated her differently 

than other similarly situated individuals and alleges that there was no rational basis for the 
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difference in treatment, states a viable Fourteenth Amendment Equal Protection Claim, be it 

race, gender or socio-economic.   

100. DEFENDANTS’ failure to act was pursuant to a pattern or practice of affording 

inadequate protection, or no protection at all, to minority women from disadvantaged socio-

economic backgrounds who have complained of having been abused by their significant others.  

This practice is tantamount to an administrative classification used to implement the law in a 

discriminatory fashion.  There is no rational basis for this disparate treatment.   

101. The actions taken by the defendants have violated SABRINA’s rights as 

guaranteed by the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States 

Constitution, in that she, as a female minority rape victim who lived in a part of Memphis where 

the residents generally earn less than Memphis generally, has been afforded less favorable terms 

and conditions then others similarly situated on the basis of her race, gender and socio-economic 

status, which is impermissible.  

102. The acts of defendants were unnecessary, objectively unreasonable and malicious.  

Therefore, defendants are liable to SABRINA and PLAINTIFF in damages pursuant to 42 

U.S.C. § 1983, including compensatory damages, costs, attorney’s fees and punitive damages.   

COUNT III 
CITY OF MEMPHIS AND SHELBY COUNTY 

UNCONSTITUTIONAL MONELL CUSTOM/FAILURE TO TRAIN  

103. PLAINTIFF hereby incorporates and re-alleges Paragraphs one (1) through one-

hundred and two (102) above as and for Paragraph one-hundred and three (133) of Count III.  

104.  At all relevant times, including April 2008, and for years prior thereto, the CITY 

and SHELBY CO. and other final policymakers knowingly, and/or with reckless or callous 

indifference to the constitutional rights of the citizens of Memphis, permitted and/or maintained 
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a widespread “custom” of allowing an historical pattern of affirmative disregard of domestic 

abuse and related arrest policies.   

105. That CITY and SHELBY CO., through their other final policymakers, did not 

take seriously domestic violence is evident in how they handle instances of domestic violence 

committed by MPD members and SHELBY CO. deputies.   

106. The CITY, SHELBY CO. and other final policymakers permitted this custom by: 

a) Treating domestic violence victims less favorably than non-
domestic violence victims;   
 

b) Treating minority domestic violence victims less favorably 
than white domestic violence victims;  

 
c) Treating poor or otherwise disenfranchised domestic violence 

victims less favorably than their similarly situated but more 
affluent Memphis and Shelby County counterparts;  

 
d) Allowing officers to omit crucial and statutorily required 

information and indicia from reports which results in 
underreporting and underserving domestic violence victims;  

 
e) Failing to arrest or timely arrest suspects accused of domestic 

violence or other serious offenses against minority women;  
 

f) Failing to follow policy, including the domestic dispute policy;  
 

g) Failing to fully implement Shelby County Fugitive Squad for 
minority female victims of domestic violence and other serious 
offenses;  

 
h) Failing to perform LAP protocol as trained; and  

 
i) allowing violations of police policy, including those intended 

to protect female rape victims and ensure a legitimate 
investigation of their criminal cases.  

 
107. This pattern of police misconduct was so pervasive as to constitute a “custom or 

usage” with the force of law.   
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108. The custom described above was the moving force behind the violations of 

SABRINA’s constitutional rights committed by defendants, and each of them, and proximately 

caused her personal injuries, great pain and other damages.  The custom described above also 

proximately caused a deprivation of the rights, privileges and immunities secured to SABRINA 

by the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, including due 

process, and laws enacted thereunder.   

109. As a result of the customs described above, SABRINA was subjected to personal 

injuries, great pain, death and other damages, and as a result, CITY and SHELBY CO. through 

CHIEF and other final policymakers are liable to SABRINA in damages under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, 

including pain and suffering and other damages.   

COUNT IV 
ALL DEFENDANTS  

WRONGFUL DEATH/SURVIVAL—STATE LAW CLAIM 
 

110. PLAINTIFF hereby incorporates and re-alleges Paragraphs one (1) through one-

hundred and nine (109) above as and for Paragraph one-hundred and ten (110) of Count IV.   

111. SABRINA’s tragic, untimely death was caused by the wrongful affirmative acts 

and omissions committed by the defendants, and each of them.  Moreover, she suffered injuries 

and great emotional distress prior to her death, the damages stemming from which survive her 

death and inure to her estate.  Further, her next-of-kin have suffered loss of society damages 

occasioned by SABRINA’s death.   

112. The acts and omissions of defendants were unnecessary, malicious and wrongful.  

Therefore, defendants are liable to SABRINA and her next-of-kin in damages, including 

compensatory damages, emotional distress damages, loss of society damages and costs.  
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WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, HAI NGUYEN, Personal Representative of the Estate of 

SABRINA NGUYEN, deceased, by and through his attorneys, and requests judgment against 

defendants, and each of them:   

1. That the defendants be required to pay compensatory damages; 
 

2. That the defendants be required to pay actual damages;  
 

3. That the defendants be required to pay costs and attorney fees 
per 42 U.S.C. § 1988;  

 
4. That the individual defendants be required to pay punitive 

damages; and  
 

5. That Plaintiff have any other such relief as this Honorable 
Court deems just and proper, including declaratory and 
injunctive relief.   

 
Respectfully submitted,  

 
 

       Michael J. Laux     
       Michael J. Laux 
       Western Dist. Tennessee Bar No. 6278834  

One of the Attorneys for PLAINTIFF 
       LAUX LAW GROUP 
       400 W. Capitol Avenue, Suite 1700 
       Little Rock, AR 72201 
       Telephone: (501) 242-0750 
       E-mail: mlaux@lauxlawgroup.com 
        mikelaux@icloud.com  
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